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The church is nearly square in plan, its east-west axis being slightly longer. A 
rectangular section for the sacristy protrudes from the rear of the church, and the 
priests' residence, which was built concurrently, is attached to this section with 
its main axis running north-south. The corners of the square are cut off at a 
45-degree angle, making the plan a modified octagon. Near the extremes of both 
side elevations are small protrusions from the main mass, the rear ones on either 
side sheltering the exits, the front ones the recessed confessionals. The elevations 
of the church reflect the clarity of the plan. For the most part they are composed 
of flat wall space punctuated by long lancet windows with triangularly-pointed 
arches and vertical triangular strips of brick with terra cotta finials that project 
above the roofline. The roofline has a profile of a triple layer of saw tooth 
glazed terra cotta over a table of brick corbels. The church and rectory are both 
of buff wire-cut brick with a Bedford-stone foundation. Finials and cornice are 
of buff glazed terra cotta. The spires are composed of stacked terra cotta block 
forms surmounted by finials.

The main entrance is set at the top of a broad flight of stairs on the east elevation. 
Its traditional three portals are set in a projecting porch divided by four brick 
piers with triangular faces topped by terra cotta finials and saw tooth cornice with a 
shadow-casting deep corbelled table. Thin brick strips carry this division through 
the roofline, with three lancet windows between them.

At the angled corners shallow turrets rise above the roofline, their profiles 
stepped from outside pairs of shafts with edges delineated by a stopped groove, to 
a triple inner turret with central cross.

The interior is a large, two-story space unified by a single oblong octagonal gold 
and white coffer in the ceiling. Interior walls are the same cream brick as the 
outside. A one-story wooden narthex projects into the space and supports the organ 
balcony. The iconographic program of the glazing consists of four Old Testament 
prophets in the triangular-headed lancets on the north side of the church, the four 
Evangelists on the south side, and St. Patrick over the entrance. Under the 
windows brick corbels support Art Deco lamps of copper and translucent ultramarine 
glass. The Ways of the Cross are represented in small bas-relief panels of white 
stone with colored backgrounds. Large representations of Mary and Joseph are 
executed in a similar manner. The crucifix in the apse is sheltered by a monumental 
somewhat futuristic wooden baldichino.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

St. Patrick's Church has regional significance as one of the early ecclesiastical 
works of a major figure in the Prairie School of architecture, Barry Byrne. The 
firm of Barry Byrne and Ryan of Chicago, Barry Byrne serving as chief designer and 
John F. Ryan as business manager, both planned and acted as general contractor for 
the structure. Alphonzo lanelli, who sculpted the famous "sprites" for Frank Lloyd 
Wright's Midway Gardens, designed and modeled the sculptural ornament of the church.

St. Patrick's was built between May 1924 and May 1925 as the new home for a congrega­ 
tion which had previously occupied a Greek Revival edifice on the other side of the 
block, facing Douglas Avenue. Part of the credit for the selection of Byrne as the 
architect may belong to Reverend William Fitz Patrick McCarthy, pastor of the church, 
who was reportedly "a man of distinct personality and courage. . . entirely in 
accord with the architects in their belief that Catholic church architecture should 
reflect its national environment and the twentieth century spirit." 1 According to 
H. Alien Brooks, the design for the church was completed in 1923, as was that for 
St. Catherine's High School which the firm built during 1924-25.

Barry Byrne (1883-1967) began his architectural career as a novice in the Oak Park 
studio of Frank Lloyd Wright in 1902, rising to a position of considerable responsibility 
by the time he left in 1908. In the early 1920's Byrne abandoned what had been a 
diversified residential practice (including partnerships with Walter Burley Griffin 
and Andrew Willatzen) to become a specialist in ecclesiastical and educational buildings.

St. Patrick's was only the second church Byrne built, but it served as a starting 
point for successive developments in church design along the same lines, including 
the very similar Church of Christ the King in Tulsa, Oklahoma (1926). (Bishop Kelly 
of Tulsa delivered the dedication sermon at St. Patrick's and was so impressed that 
he declared his intention to return home and build a church like it.)

In a 1930 article in The American Architect John Ryan wrote that Byrne considered 
his church designs as "functionalism," designing the building to fit specific needs 
rather than the lines of buildings of a former age. Newspaper descriptions of the 
church, however, referred to its style as "American Gothic." With its angular 
geometric shapes, large expanses of flat wall space, and original interior color 
vocabulary of cream, vermillion, ultramarine, and black, the design obviously owes 
much to the comtemporary Art Deco.

1. "St. Patrick's Church, Racine, Wisconsin," American Architect, December 20, 1925, 
plate 332.
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